Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

Lingwei Xiang

Date

The Association between Post-traumatic Stress Disorder and Insulin Resistance

Ву

Lingwei Xiang

Master of Public Health

Epidemiology

Amit Shah, MD, MSCR

Committee Chair

The Association between Post-traumatic Stress Disorder and Insulin Resistance

Ву

Lingwei Xiang

Bachelor of Science Hubei University 2013

Thesis Committee Chair:

Amit Shah, MD, MSCR

An abstract of A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Public Health in Epidemiology 2015

Abstract

Introduction: Previous studies has linked posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) with insulin resistance (IR), however, most of these studies are cross-sectional and did not capturing familial and early environmental factors.

Methods: We examined whether PTSD associates with future IR before and after controlling for shared genetics and childhood environment in a prospective study of middle-aged male twins from the Vietnam Era Twin Registry. PTSD was diagnosed at enrollment in 1992 with Diagnostic Interview Schedule (DIS) for psychiatric disorders according to the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders-Third Edition-Revised (DSM-III-R). IR was measured by insulin and glucose levels as determined by the homeostatic model assessment (HOMA). A total of 475 twins were included in the analysis of PTSD and IR. Of these, 59 were new cases of diabetes diagnosed during follow-up. Mixed-effects regression models were used to examine individual, between-pair and within-pair associations.

Results: Approximately, 23% of participants met the criteria for lifetime PTSD at enrollment. When evaluating twins brothers as a family unit, PTSD was associate with 1.32 mmol/L higher HOMA-IR (95% Confidence Interval: 1.01, 1.73) adjusted for social demographic factors. However, the association became insignificant after controlling for obesity. We found no significant association when evaluating PTSD within discordant twin pairs, however.

Conclusion: Among Vietnam War-era veterans, familial PTSD is positively associated with future insulin resistance, but the effect is mostly mediated by obesity.

The Association between Post-traumatic Stress Disorder and Insulin Resistance

Ву

Lingwei Xiang

Bachelor of Science Hubei University

Thesis Committee Chair:

Amit Shah, MD MSCR

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Public Health in Epidemiology 2015

Table of Contents

Background	1
Methods	2
Study Population	2
Measurement of Insulin Resistance	3
Assessment of PTSD	3
Assessment of potential confounders and mediators	3
Statistical Analysis	4
Results	5
PTSD and Diabetes	6
PTSD and HOMA-IR	6
Discussion	7
Reference	10
Tables and Figures	13

Background

Posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) is a maladaptive response to psychological trauma that is a common cause of morbidity and mortality. People with PTSD may feel frightened even when they are out of danger, experience sleep disturbance, feel detached, or have prolonged, intense distress ^{1,2}. According to the National Comorbidity Survey Replication, the prevalence of lifetime PTSD among adults Americans is 6.8%, and women are twice as likely as men to have PTSD ³. In particular, the prevalence of PTSD among Vietnam-era veterans is approximately 12%-16%.

Insulin resistance, which is defined as a state of reduced responsiveness to normal functions of exogenous or endogenous insulin ⁴, is a syndrome responsible for diseases such as obesity, hypertension, type 2 diabetes, and chronic liver disease ⁵. IR, even in non-diabetics, plays an importance role in the development of different diseases such as coronary heart disease ⁵ and fatty liver.

Though the relationship between PTSD and diabetes has been recognized ⁶, few studies have studied insulin resistance and PTSD in the larger population of non-diabetics as well. In addition, it remains unclear whether the increased insulin resistance is the result of PTSD or other confounding factors. Familial factors, such as low birth weight, associates with both IR and adulthood mental disorders ^{7 8}, but are typically not measured directly. Genetic factors may also confound the relationship between PTSD and insulin resistance ⁹⁻¹³.

In order to overcome the limitations of previous studies, we propose an analysis using twins. The advantage is that twins have matched genetics (50%-100%) and early family environment (e.g. diet, family social economic status, parental factors). By comparing within twin pairs discordant for PTSD, we can adjust for these unmeasured effects. In this study, we examine a sample of Vietnam-era veteran twins and examined the association of PTSD with IR and diabetes. We also examine whether the association remains after adjusting for potential confounder and mediators, including genetic and familial.

Methods

Study Population

We conducted an analysis in the Emory Twin Study (ETS) which combines samples from the Twin Heart Study (THS) and the SAVEIT (Stress and Vascular Evaluation in Twins) [13]. This includes 562 (281 pairs) middle-aged male twins who were originally enrolled in the Vietnam Era Twin (VET) Registry ¹⁴. All twins were born between 1946 and 1956. Twin pairs that were discordant for depression and PTSD were oversampled as part of the original study design.

All twins were examined in pairs at the Emory University General Clinical Research Center between 2002 and 2010 [13]. All the data were collected within 24-hour admission under controlled conditions. A comprehensive panel of risk markers, including data on sociodemographics, medical history, and physical examination, were assessed. Zygosity information of all pairs were determined by means of DNA typing. All physical examination measurements were conducted with research staff blind to PTSD status. Consents were obtained from both Emory Institutional Review Board and all study subjects.

Measurement of Insulin Resistance

Insulin and glucose levels were used to measure insulin resistance (IR) as determined by the homeostatic model assessment (HOMA), which calculates IR based on the formula glucose times insulin, divided by 22.5. Venous blood samples were collected after an overnight fast, and glucose level was measured using Bechman CX7 chemistry auto-analyzer. Both labs were measured by the Emory Hospital labs. Insulin was measured using the ADVIA Centaur 2-sided sandwich immunoassay (Siemens) which has a range of 0.5 to 300 microunits/liter, and a coefficient of variation of 4%.

Assessment of PTSD

The measurement of PTSD status, collected at the Registry's inception in 1992, was based on the Diagnostic Interview Schedule (DIS) for psychiatric disorders according to the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders-Third Edition-Revised (DSM-III-R).

Assessment of potential confounders and mediators

Demographic characteristics (age, marriage and education), and behavioral factors (cigarette smoking, alcohol consumption, and coffee consumption) were collected via self-report. Abdominal and hip circumferences were measured to calculate the waist

to hip ratio (WHR), which has a well-characterized relationship with IR. A fasting glucose level over 126 mg/dl or current treatment with anti-diabetic medications were used to define diabetes. Hypertension was defined as having systolic blood pressure over 140 mm Hg or current treatment with anti-hypertension medications. Alcohol and coffee intake were measured using the Willett food frequency questionnaire. Cigarette smoking was classified into current, past and never smoker. Homogeneous assays (Equal Diagnostics, Exton, PA) was used to measure direct high-density lipoprotein (HDL) and low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol in subjects.

Statistical Analysis

All analyses were conducted using SAS 9.4 for Windows (SAS Institute, Inc., Cary, North Carolina). Baseline differences between twins with PTSD and twin free of PTSD were evaluated. Mixed regression models with random intercept for each twin pair were used, taking into consideration pair-level clustering. Analysis using HOMA-IR as a continuous variable was conducted. HOMA-IR was log transformed because of its right skewed distribution. Multivariable adjusted models were conducted sequentially with confounders, and mediators. Adjusted factors include: 1) demographic factors (age, employment, marriage, education); 2) behavioral factors (smoking, alcohol, coffee); 3) obesity factors (BMI, WHR); 4) psychiatric comorbidity (depression, combat exposure). Tests of statistical significant were 2-sided, with 95% confidence interval.

We first evaluated the association between a history of PTSD and diabetes to evaluate for any general relationships between PTSD and clinical diabetes; this was then followed by an analysis of PTSD and IR those who did not develop diabetes, since diabetes diagnosis and treatment may interfere with IR¹⁵. In addition, if PTSD and diabetes were significant, this increased the likelihood of skewing the non-diabetic subgroup. For each analysis, twin brothers were first considered individually. Next, we examined the relationship between PTSD and diabetes both between and within twin pairs. Twin pairs with three different levels of PTSD exposure were compared in the between-pair analyses. This includes twin pairs in which 0, 1, or 2 twin brothers had PTSD. In the within-pair analyses, twin pairs discordant for lifetime PTSD exposure were compared. The within-pair effects are controlled for shared genetic (50% for dizygotic, 100% for monozygotic), familial and early environmental influences, which are potential cofounders. To evaluate the potential effect of exposure on HOMA-IR was different among monozygotic twins and among dizygotic twins, interaction between zygosity and the within-pair association of PTSD and HOMA-IR was tested.

Results

Of the original 562 twins enrolled in the Emory Twins Study, we excluded 6 subjects who were diabetic at baseline (1992), 19 subjects with missing PTSD baseline status, and 1 with missing diabetes data at follow-up, yielding a study sample of 536. In the second group of analyses examining IR in the subgroup without diabetes at follow-up, we excluded the 59 subjects who developed diabetes upon enrollment in the ETS. HOMA-IR was not available in 2 subjects, yielding a final sample size of 475. Of the 475 twins included in the final analysis, 110 had PTSD. This included 217 pairs complete twin pairs and 41 singletons. There were 87 twin pairs discordant for PTSD and 18 pairs in which both had PTSD. There were no significant differences in average age, hypertension, education and physical indexes between twins with a history of lifetime PTSD and those without PTSD (Table 1). Twins with lifetime PTSD were more likely to be unemployed. Twins with PTSD were significantly more likely to be smokers, consume alcohol, abuse drugs, and have a history of depression.

PTSD and Diabetes

Among the 536 twins who were free of diabetes in 1992, 59 (11 %) new diabetes cases were diagnosed in second examination at the Emory University General Clinical Research Center. The prevalence of diabetes were similar among subjects diagnosed with lifetime PTSD in 1992 to those free of PTSD in 1992 (10.95% vs. 11.20%). No statistical significant association between PTSD and diabetes was found in analyses (Table 2).

PTSD and HOMA-IR

Of the 475 twins, the overall mean of HOMA-IR was 1.94 (SD=1.59) mmol/L, and 38.32% (n=182) had elevated HOMA-IR using 1.85 mmol/L as the cut point for nondiabetes ¹⁶. In the analyses in which twins were treated individually, there was no statistically significant association found between PTSD and HOMA-IR in the unadjusted (change=-0.2%; 95% CI: -12%, 14%; P=0.97) model. The association remained statistically insignificant after adjusting for potential confounders and mediators sequentially (Table 3.).

When evaluating the association of PTSD and IR within and between pairs, a significant unadjusted association between pairs was found (p=0.0056), indicating an increase of 46% in HOMA-IR for each incremental twin with PTSD in the pair. The association diminished by 30% after adjusted for demographic factors (change=32%; 95% CI: 1%, 73%; P=0.0432). Additional adjustments for alcohol drinking and smoking status resulted in little change (Table 3.). However, the association lost statistical significance when adjusting for obesity related factors (BMI, WHR) at enrollment in 1992 (change=25%; 95% CI: -3%, 60%; p=0.08) and obesity related factors collected at followup (change=6%; 95% CI: -0.16-15%, 34%; p=0.59). In the model with all covariates combined, HOMA-IR pair average was 11% larger for each incremental twin with PTSD in the twin pair, although this effect was not statistically significant (change=12%; 95% CI: -11%, 39%; P=0.35). No statistically significant association between lifetime PTSD and HOMA-IR was found in within pairs discordant for PTSD (Table 3.). There was no statistically significant interaction between zygosity and within-pair association of PTSD and HOMA-IR (p=0.11). Adjustment for depression resulted in little change in the association by 0.8%, and no interaction found between PTSD and depression (p=0.35).

Discussion

In this prospective study of middle-aged Vietnam-era Veterans, familial PTSD was positively associated with the development of future insulin resistance, although when adjusting for obesity, no associations were found. This suggests the effects were mediated by increased obesity in PTSD families. Diabetes was not statistically significant associates with PTSD in our study, but likely underpowered due to small sample size, as a larger study of the cohort showed a familial association with diabetes as well. There is no statistically significant interaction between PTSD and depression, suggesting that these effects were not due to increased depression in PTSD families.

To our knowledge, the present study is the first study examining the association between familial PTSD and HOMA-IR in twin pairs without diabetes. Although there is a study that reported an association between PTSD and IR among non-diabetics ¹⁷, the study did not investigate familial factors and was cross-sectional.

A recent study based on the same VET twin registry showed PTSD associated with a 40% increased risk of new-onset diabetes in a larger sample size ¹⁸, and suggested familial level effect of PTSD predicts diabetes through influencing metabolic and behavioral risk factors of IR. However, this study did not look at the association of PTSD and IR among non-diabetics, who may be unaware of their possibly 40% increased risk due to IR. Our study confirms a family-level effect and demonstrates the importance of obesity as a mediator ¹⁹.

The results of our twin study suggests that familial factors shared by the twins play an important role in the association of PTSD and future IR through increased obesity. PTSD may be a marker for exposures related to both obesity and IR. For example, people of low birth weight or exposed to low soceioeconomic status in childhood are at higher risks of suffering from PTSD and becoming IR later in life ^{7,8,20-22}. Tobacco and alcohol consumption are common behaviors among PTSD patients, which also associate with IR ²³⁻²⁵. Gestational age influences the risk of IR, and children who had been born prematurely were reported to have reduced insulin sensitivity ²⁶. Negative parental lifestyles and parental history of diseases also increase their offspring's vulnerability to IR and PTSD. Offspring with parental diabetes or parental high-fat diet have significantly higher level of HOMA-IR compared with those without such histories ^{27,28}. Figure 1 summarizes the pathways by which familial factors for PTSD may lead to increased insulin resistance.

Insulin resistance is a syndrome responsible for many diseases, including type 2 diabetes, obesity, hypertension, and cardiovascular disease ⁵. In return, insulin resistance might be the consequence of obesity (mediator) based on our study. It has been reported that PTSD is a risk factor of coronary heart disease (CHD) ²⁹. It is possible that IR mediate the association of PTSD and CHD. Due to the high prevalence of IR, interventions should be taken to reduce not only the incidence of IR but also potential downstream toxicities. According to our findings, weight-loss interventions such as physical exercise and energy restriction would be efficient ways to prevent development of IR among PTSD families. Also, early therapies on childhood obesity will help decrease the risk of IR.

This study has a number of limitations. Despite of the advantages of using prospective study design to investigate the possible causality and capturing familial and early environmental factors, the sample size in this study is limited, which restricted the power of our analysis to detect smaller differences. In addition, the findings of this study is cannot be generalized to women or to people of different ages, because the study population is restricted to middle-aged male veterans. Furthermore, there might be many other factors other than PTSD that triggered the onset of unhealthy lifestyles responsible for obesity, in this case, the inferences we made were limited. On the other hand, we relied on interviews and questionnaires to collect covariates data such as alcohol and coffee consumption, which reduces the veracity of our results because of the subjectivity of responders. Finally, it is possible that there is additional confounding due to unmeasured factors.

In conclusion, in this cohort of middle-aged non-diabetic veteran male twins, familial PTSD was associated with future IR, primarily due to obesity. This complements previous research that shows a relationship between familial PTSD and diabetes by showing a similar effect in non-diabetics who may not be aware of their increased risk. Further researches should focus on elucidating the specific familial and early environmental factors that involved in IR/diabetes and PTSD base on a larger and more generalized study population.

Reference

- 1. Kuch K, Cox BJ. Symptoms of PTSD in 124 survivors of the Holocaust. *Am J Psychiatry* 1992;**149**(3):337-40.
- 2. Breslau N. The epidemiology of trauma, PTSD, and other posttrauma disorders. *Trauma Violence Abuse* 2009;**10**(3):198-210.
- Wolf EJ, Mitchell KS, Koenen KC, Miller MW. Combat exposure severity as a moderator of genetic and environmental liability to post-traumatic stress disorder. *Psychol Med* 2014;44(7):1499-509.
- 4. Lebovitz HE. Insulin resistance: definition and consequences. *Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes* 2001;**109 Suppl 2**:S135-48.

- 5. DeFronzo RA, Ferrannini E. Insulin resistance. A multifaceted syndrome responsible for NIDDM, obesity, hypertension, dyslipidemia, and atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease. *Diabetes Care* 1991;**14**(3):173-94.
- 6. Goodwin RD, Davidson JR. Self-reported diabetes and posttraumatic stress disorder among adults in the community. *Prev Med* 2005;**40**(5):570-4.
- 7. Abel KM, Wicks S, Susser ES, Dalman C, Pedersen MG, Mortensen PB, Webb RT. Birth weight, schizophrenia, and adult mental disorder: is risk confined to the smallest babies? *Arch Gen Psychiatry* 2010;**67**(9):923-30.
- 8. Li C, Johnson MS, Goran MI. Effects of low birth weight on insulin resistance syndrome in caucasian and African-American children. *Diabetes Care* 2001;**24**(12):2035-42.
- 9. True WR, Rice J, Eisen SA, Heath AC, Goldberg J, Lyons MJ, Nowak J. A twin study of genetic and environmental contributions to liability for posttraumatic stress symptoms. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* 1993;**50**(4):257-64.
- 10. Stein MB, Jang KL, Taylor S, Vernon PA, Livesley WJ. Genetic and environmental influences on trauma exposure and posttraumatic stress disorder symptoms: a twin study. *Am J Psychiatry* 2002;**159**(10):1675-81.
- 11. Xian H, Chantarujikapong SI, Scherrer JF, Eisen SA, Lyons MJ, Goldberg J, Tsuang M, True WR. Genetic and environmental influences on posttraumatic stress disorder, alcohol and drug dependence in twin pairs. *Drug Alcohol Depend* 2000;**61**(1):95-102.
- 12. Chambers JC, Elliott P, Zabaneh D, Zhang W, Li Y, Froguel P, Balding D, Scott J, Kooner JS. Common genetic variation near MC4R is associated with waist circumference and insulin resistance. *Nat Genet* 2008;**40**(6):716-8.
- 13. Widen E, Lehto M, Kanninen T, Walston J, Shuldiner AR, Groop LC. Association of a polymorphism in the beta 3-adrenergic-receptor gene with features of the insulin resistance syndrome in Finns. *N Engl J Med* 1995;**333**(6):348-51.
- 14. Henderson WG, Eisen S, Goldberg J, True WR, Barnes JE, Vitek ME. The Vietnam Era Twin Registry: a resource for medical research. *Public Health Rep* 1990;**105**(4):368-73.
- 15. Saltiel AR, Olefsky JM. Thiazolidinediones in the treatment of insulin resistance and type II diabetes. *Diabetes* 1996;**45**(12):1661-9.
- 16. Gayoso-Diz P, Otero-Gonzalez A, Rodriguez-Alvarez MX, Gude F, Garcia F, De Francisco A, Quintela AG. Insulin resistance (HOMA-IR) cut-off values and the metabolic syndrome in a general adult population: effect of gender and age: EPIRCE cross-sectional study. *BMC Endocr Disord* 2013;**13**:47.
- 17. Ebrahimi R. More insulin resistance, metabolic syndrome with PTSD
- Vaccarino V, Goldberg J, Magruder KM, Forsberg CW, Friedman MJ, Litz BT, Heagerty PJ, Huang GD, Gleason TC, Smith NL. Posttraumatic stress disorder and incidence of type-2 diabetes: a prospective twin study. J Psychiatr Res 2014;56:158-64.
- Rao MN, Chau A, Madden E, Inslicht S, Talbot L, Richards A, O'Donovan A, Ruoff L, Grunfeld C, Neylan TC. Hyperinsulinemic response to oral glucose challenge in individuals with posttraumatic stress disorder. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 2014;49:171-81.
- 20. King DW, King LA, Foy DW, Gudanowski DM. Prewar factors in combat-related posttraumatic stress disorder: structural equation modeling with a national sample of female and male Vietnam veterans. *J Consult Clin Psychol* 1996;**64**(3):520-31.
- 21. Galea S, Ahern J, Tracy M, Hubbard A, Cerda M, Goldmann E, Vlahov D. Longitudinal determinants of posttraumatic stress in a population-based cohort study. *Epidemiology* 2008;**19**(1):47-54.

- 22. Lawlor DA, Ebrahim S, Davey Smith G, British women's h, health s. Socioeconomic position in childhood and adulthood and insulin resistance: cross sectional survey using data from British women's heart and health study. *BMJ* 2002;**325**(7368):805.
- 23. Shah JH. Alcohol decreases insulin sensitivity in healthy subjects. *Alcohol Alcohol* 1988;**23**(2):103-9.
- 24. Bergman BC, Perreault L, Hunerdosse D, Kerege A, Playdon M, Samek AM, Eckel RH. Novel and reversible mechanisms of smoking-induced insulin resistance in humans. *Diabetes* 2012;**61**(12):3156-66.
- 25. Fu SS, McFall M, Saxon AJ, Beckham JC, Carmody TP, Baker DG, Joseph AM. Posttraumatic stress disorder and smoking: a systematic review. *Nicotine Tob Res* 2007;**9**(11):1071-84.
- 26. Hofman PL, Regan F, Jackson WE, Jefferies C, Knight DB, Robinson EM, Cutfield WS. Premature birth and later insulin resistance. *N Engl J Med* 2004;**351**(21):2179-86.
- 27. Srinivasan SR, Frontini MG, Berenson GS, Bogalusa Heart S. Longitudinal changes in risk variables of insulin resistance syndrome from childhood to young adulthood in offspring of parents with type 2 diabetes: the Bogalusa Heart Study. *Metabolism* 2003;**52**(4):443-50; discussion 451-3.
- 28. Bale TL, Baram TZ, Brown AS, Goldstein JM, Insel TR, McCarthy MM, Nemeroff CB, Reyes TM, Simerly RB, Susser ES, Nestler EJ. Early life programming and neurodevelopmental disorders. *Biol Psychiatry* 2010;**68**(4):314-9.
- 29. Vaccarino V, Goldberg J, Rooks C, Shah AJ, Veledar E, Faber TL, Votaw JR, Forsberg CW, Bremner JD. Post-traumatic stress disorder and incidence of coronary heart disease: a twin study. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2013;**62**(11):970-8.

Tables and Figures

	Characteristic	No	PTSD (N=365)	Lifetim	e PTSD (N=110)
		%	Mean (SD)	%	Mean (SD)
	BMI ^a		25.5 (3.0)		25.6 (3.2)
Enrollment (1992)	Current smoker	41		60	
	Past smoker	87		92	
	Never smoker	7		3	
	Depression history	20		39	
	Additive combat Index		3.3 (3.2)		5.4 (3.5)
	Demographic factors				
	Age		55.2 (3.1)		56.0 (3.2)
	Education ^b		14.2 (2.2)		13.8 (2.2)
	Married	1		3	
	Employed	79		66	
	Physical factors				
	BMI ^a		29.3 (4.9)		29.3 (4.9)
	Waist-hip Ratio		0.9 (0.1)		1.0 (0.1)
	LDL Cholesterol		125.0 (34.2)		119.1 (33.5)
	HDL Cholesterol		39.5 (10.5)		39.1 (11.2)
	Behavioral factors				
	Smoking status				
Follow-up	Current smoker	22		35	
	Past smoker	43		45	
	Never smoker	36		20	
	No. of alcoholic		5.0 (8.7)		6.6 (13.2)
	beverages				
	per day				
	Alcohol abuse history	4		5	
	No. of coffee cups per		2.8 (3.6)		3.2 (3.0)
	day				
	Drug Abuse History	21		39	
	Psychiatric comorbidity				
	Depression history	21		42	
	Combat exposure scale ^c		3.8 (6.2)		8.5 (8.4)
	Hypertension	48		55	

Table 1. Twin Demographics Classified by History of PTSD at 1992 Interview, Emory Twin Study

Abbreviations: HDL, high-density lipoprotein; LDL, low-density lipoprotein; PTSD, posttraumatic stress order; SD, standard deviation; BMI, body mass index;

^a Weight (kg)/height (m)²;

^b Education years;

^c Values ranges from 0 to 28.

	Total No.	Effect Estimates	95%	p-value	
Individual ^a	536	0.08	-0.46	0.63	0.77
Between-pairs	500	-0.49	-1.71	0.73	0.43
Within-pairs ^a	522	0.12	-0.64	0.87	0.76

Table 2. Association between PTSD and Diabetes, Emory Twin Study

^a Unadjusted model.

	Individual			Between-Pairs			Within-Pairs		
Model	Effect Estimates	95% CI	P ^e	Effect Estimates	95% CI	Pe	Effect Estimates	95% CI	P ^e
Unadjusted	<-0.01	-0.13, 0.13	0.97	0.38	0.11, 0.64	0.01	-0.11	-0.26, 0.04	0.15
Adjusted for potential confound	ers								
Socio-demographic factors									
Age and education	-0.02	-0.15, 0.11	0.78	0.28	0.01, 0.55	0.04	-0.12	-0.27, 0.03	0.12
Marriage and employment status	-0.01	-0.14, 0.13	0.93	0.36	0.09, 0.63	0.01	-0.12	-0.27, 0.04	0.14
Combined ^a	-0.02	-0.15, 0.12	0.79	0.28	0.01, 0.55	0.04	-0.12	-0.28, 0.03	0.11
Health behavior related factor	rs ^b								
Alcohol	<-0.01	-0.13, 0.13	0.99	0.33	0.06, 0.59	0.02	-0.10	-0.26, 0.05	0.18
Coffee	-0.02	-0.15, 0.12	0.80	0.28	0.01, 0.55	0.04	-0.12	-0.27, 0.03	0.12
Smoking	<-0.01	-0.13, 0.14	0.94	0.31	0.04, 0.58	0.02	-0.10	-0.25, 0.06	0.21
Obesity at enrollment	<-0.01	-0.12, 0.12	0.98	0.22	-0.03, 0.47	0.08	-0.08	-0.21, 0.06	0.28
Obesity at follow-up	<-0.01	-0.11, 0.11	0.98	0.06	-0.16, 0.29	0.59	-0.05	-0.18, 0.09	0.50
Combined ^c	0.02	-0.09, 0.13	0.75	0.10	-0.12, 0.33	0.36	-0.03	-0.16, 0.11	0.71
Final Model ^d	0.02	-0.09, 0.14	0.69	0.11	-0.12, 0.33	0.35	-0.02	-0.16, 0.11	0.75

Table 3. Sequential Models for the Association between Lifetime Posttraumatic Stress Disorder and Insulin Resistance, Emory Twins Study

^a This combined model is adjusted for all the socio-demographic factors listed in the table.

^b In addition to the controlled variable listed in the table, each model is controlling for age and education years.

^c This combined model is adjusted for age and education years together with all the health behavior-related factors listed in the table.

^d The final model is controlling for all the socio-demographic and health behavior related factors.

^e p-value.c



Figure 1. Hypothesis pathways between PTSD and IR